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The Treasury Building, located immediately East of the White House at the 
intersection of Pennsylvania Avenue and 15th Street, N.W., is a rectangular 
building 260 feet wide from East to West and 466 feet from North to South. 
It was erected in four stages. The East side and central wing was built 
between 1836 and 1842 by Robert Mills. Dictated by a parsimonious Congress 
he was forced to use on the exterior Aquia Creek sandstone from the 
government quarry rather than the granite he preferred. Mills sought to 
construct a large, dignified, fireproof building worthy of its prominent 
location and function. The result was a brilliant display of structural 
innovation and dramatic design. Mills adopted the Greek Revival style 
for his building and on the 15th Street facade constructed a monumental 
Ionic colonnade three stories high over a raided basement and carrying a 
full entablature unbroken by a pediment. This colonnade was shown in his 
preliminary plans as having 40 columns; however, it was reduced in the 
actual building to 30. The T-shaped building had a simple plan, two 
flanking corridors on either side of a double oval flight of cantilevered 
stone stairs. At right angles to this main axis is the corridor of the 
central wing with access between the two flights of stairs. On either 
side of the corridors are simple rectangular offices, each two bays wide. 
The structural heart of Mills 1 scheme is the continuous masonry barrel 
vaults of the main corridors flanked by groin vaults in each office. The 
whole interior being vaulted and carrying a minimum of decoration has 
produced spatial experience of spare, controlled beauty.

The South Wing of the building constructed from 1855 to 1861 by Ammi B. 
Young and Alexander H. Bowman carried out the basic Mills scheme for such 
a wing. It was, however, somewhat larger than the Mills proposal and 
therefore cut off the view from the White House to the Capitol. This 
South Wing has an advanced, pedimented octastyle Ionic entrance portico 
flanked by symmetrical wings. These wings have engaged/pilasters alter­ 
nating with seven window bays on each side. Unfortunately the window sash 
has been replaced throughout the building and is not of the same design 
or scale as the original. The structure of the South Wing is completely 
different from that of the Mills section. Young adopted a system of iron 
I beams supporting shallow segmental brick vaults closely spaced. This 
has produced a much less sculptural appearance to the interior spaces than 
the Mills scheme. Young also departed from the first section of the 
Treasury Building by constructing the exterior of the South Wing in granite

The West Wing by Isaiah Rogers, built between 1862 and 1864, and the North 
Wing by Alfred B. Mullett, built between 1867 and 1869, completed the 
building essentially in harmony with the South Wing. The interiors of 
these three sides of the Treasury rely much more on interior decoration 
than does the Mills portion. Boyh Young, Rogers, and Mullett made 
extensive and imaginative use of cast plaster and cast iron decoration. 
In the Banking Room of the North Wing, Mullett created the most elaborate 
room in the building. He used seven varieties of marble for the walls 
and bronze railings for the balcony. The demand for modern services, 
overcrowding, and rigid safety standards has produced countless small
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The United States Department of the Treasury building, erected in 
Washington, D.C., between 1836 and 1869, is the work of Robert Mills, 
Thomas U. Walter, Ammi B. Young, Isaiah Rogers, and Alfred B. Mullett. 
Conceived and built in the Greek Revival style which so captured the 
spirit of the young republic, this building, and the old Patent Office, 
undertaken at the same time, are the most outstanding examples of Greek 
Revival civil architecture in the country. Not only were they the 
largest non-military buildings undertaken by the Federal Government in 
their own time, but they also influenced countless examples of civil 
architecture built across the face of expanding America. The Treasury 
Building's great architectural merit is, somehow, not easily perceived 
by the passer-by. This is largely because of its cramped location 
immediately adjacent to 15th Street, with no set-back, and also because 
the large scale of the building when viewed from close quarters has a 
curious dulling effect on the senses.

History:

In the 33 years that the Treasury Building was under construction next 
door to the White House, the talents of five major American architects 
were utilized in four principal phases of construction.

The Treasury Department moved from Philadelphia to Washington in 1800 
and was housed in the East Executive Office Building (on the site of 
the present North Wing). This brick building had been constructed in 
1799 and then caught fire in 1801, 1814, and 1833. After the third 
conflagration it was not reconstructed and so from 1833 to 1836 The 
Department of the Treasury was housed in temporary quarters.

Robert Mills, who had been in the Capital since 1830, was asked in 1833 
to make a report on the Treasury Fire. Later in 1836, his plans for 
a new Treasury Building were accepted by President Jackson who also 
appointed him to supervise the construction of the building. Undoubtedly, 
a major reason for the selection of Robert Mills for the Treasury Building 
commission was his demonstrated interest in fireproof construction. Mills 
has pioneered in this field with the construction of his Fireproof 
Building in Charleston, South Carolina, from 1822 to 1827. In addition 
Mills had studied with both Thomas Jefferson and Benjamin Henry Latrobe.
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7. Description (1)

alterations which have partially eroded much of the 19th-century ambiance. 
However, these alterations do not preclude the possibility of a sympathetic 
restoration.
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8. Sigificance (1)

Mills design for the new Treasury called for an E-shaped building opening 
West towards the White House, and with a long classical East facade along 
15th Street. The East front and the central wing were actually constructed 
between 1836 and 18^2. The North and South Wings planned by Mills were 
not constructed. The resulting building was T-shaped with a continuous 
Ionic colonnade facing 15th Street.

The unusual structural system adopted for the building and the monumental 
scale of its design aroused suspicion and fear within the Congressional 
Committees and some sharp professional jealousies among rival architects. 
In 1838 a bill was introduced into Congress to authorize the demolition 
of the half completed structure. The Bill was defeated by a vote of 
ninety-four to ninety-one. Oddly enough, the architect who presented 
the case for demolition was Thomas U. Walter, who in 1851 was appointed 
Architect to the Capitol, and whose plans for extending the Treasury 
Building were authorized by Congress in 1855-

The Walter contribution to the future of the Treasury Building, however,
does not seem to extend beyond a small scale plan and two elevations
setting out the general goals of the final scheme.

The extension of the Treasury Building began in July 1855 with the 
construction of the South Wing. The design was the work of the Supervising 
Architect of the Treasury, Ammi B. Young, appointed in 1852, and Alexander 
H. Bowman, Engineer in Charge of the Bureau of Construction. Mills had 
been forced by Congress to use sandstone, but the extension was carried 
out in granite. The columns were monoliths whereas Mills' columns had 
been built up in drums. Young reported the South Wing completed in 
September 1861. In July 1962, Young was abruptly dismissed from his 
office by Secretary Chase and replaced by Isaiah Rogers. Rogers remained 
in this job until 1865 and supervised the construction 
and the preliminary planning of the North Wing.

of the West Wing 
Rogers also designed a

proposal to remodel the East Front and to replace Mills' original work. 
Happily this remained a proposal.

Upon Rogers' resignation, he was replaced by Alfred B. Mullett who had 
been a former student of his and also a subordinate on the Treasury staff 
Mullett, who went on to design the State, War, and Navy Building on the 
other side of the White House from the Treasury, was responsible for the 
completion of the North Wing of the building from 1867 and 1869. This 
wing contains the elaborately decorated marble Banking Room which was the 
setting for President Grant's first inaugural ball in 1869.

Major changes since that time have included the rebuilding of the Mills 
facade in granite in 1908, and the addition of an attic story in 1910. 
Over the years the two enclosed inner courtyards have been gradually
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8. Significance (2)
United States Department of the Treasury

filled in on the lower levels and have now become light wells rather than 
gardens. Even with these changes to gain more space, today the building 
houses less than 10% of the Washington staff of the Department of the 
Treasury.
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Sketch Plan by Robert Mills of the Treasury Building including the 
North and South Wings which vere never constructed.


